Consolidated Financial and Compliance Report September 30, 2022

# Contents

Independent auditor's report	1-3
Financial statements	
Consolidated statements of financial position	4
Consolidated statements of activities	5-6
Consolidated statements of functional expenses	7-8
Consolidated statements of cash flows	9
Notes to consolidated financial statements	10-26
Report on internal control over financial reporting and on compliance and other matters based on an audit of financial statements performed in accordance with	
Government Auditing Standards	27-28
Report on compliance for each major federal program and report on internal control over compliance required by the Uniform Guidance	29-31
Schedule of expenditures of federal awards	32
Notes to schedule of expenditures of federal awards	33
Schedule of findings and questioned costs	34



**RSM US LLP** 

#### Independent Auditor's Report

Board of Directors The Florida Aquarium, Inc.

#### **Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements**

#### Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of The Florida Aquarium, Inc. and Affiliate (collectively, the Aquarium), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as of September 30, 2022, the related consolidated statements of activities, functional expenses and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements (collectively, the financial statements).

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Aquarium as of September 30, 2022, and the changes in their net assets and their cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

#### **Basis for Opinion**

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to the financial audits contained in *Government Auditing Standards*, issued by the Comptroller of the United States (*Government Auditing Standards*). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the Aquarium and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

# **Other Matter**

The financial statements of the Aquarium, as of and for the year ended September 30, 2021, were audited by other auditors, whose report, dated January 31, 2022, expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements.

# **Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements**

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Aquarium's ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date that the financial statements are issued or available to be issued.

THE POWER OF BEING UNDERSTOOD AUDIT | TAX | CONSULTING

# Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and *Government Auditing Standards* will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we:

- Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Aquarium's internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.
- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements.
- Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that
  raise substantial doubt about the Aquarium's ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable
  period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings and certain internal control-related matters that we identified during the audit.

# Supplementary Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements as a whole. The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards, as required by Title 2 *U.S. Code of Federal Regulations* Part 200, *Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements of Federal Awards*, is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the information is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the financial statements as a whole.

# Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with *Government Auditing Standards*, we have also issued our report dated January 31, 2023, on our consideration of the Aquarium's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and agreements, and other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Aquarium's internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with *Government Auditing Standards* in considering the Aquarium's internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

RSM US LLP

Tampa, Florida January 31, 2023

# Consolidated Statements of Financial Position September 30, 2022 and 2021

	2022	2021
Assets		
Current assets:		
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 16,619,274	\$ 15,414,200
Investments	5,010,723	5,000,021
Accounts receivable, net	689,028	265,864
Grants receivable	1,147,622	234,645
Contributions receivable	220,000	-
Other current assets	 158,038	155,466
Total current assets	23,844,685	21,070,196
Investments	1,107,421	1,297,153
Beneficial interest in assets held by Community Foundation	125,308	146,513
Contributions receivable, net	639,071	-
Capital assets, net	 20,271,196	19,875,751
Total assets	\$ 45,987,681	\$ 42,389,613
Liabilities and Net Assets Current liabilities:		
Accounts payable and accrued expenses	\$ 2,650,899	\$ 2,564,434
Deferred revenue	 2,331,921	2,341,799
Total current liabilities	4,982,820	4,906,233
Note payable	-	1,983,795
Deferred revenue	 -	1,854,616
Total liabilities	 4,982,820	8,744,644
Commitments and contingencies (Note 7)		
Net assets:		
Without donor restrictions	38,679,445	32,089,108
With donor restrictions	 2,325,416	 1,555,861
Total net assets	 41,004,861	 33,644,969
Total liabilities and net assets	\$ 45,987,681	\$ 42,389,613

# Consolidated Statement of Activities Year Ended September 30, 2022

	ithout Donor Restrictions	Vith Donor estrictions	Total
Revenue and support:			
Admissions	\$ 20,889,770	\$ -	\$ 20,889,770
Membership revenue	2,375,688	-	2,375,688
Gift shop sales, net	1,387,263	-	1,387,263
Restaurant sales, net	1,635,545	-	1,635,545
Parking revenue, net	969,889	-	969,889
Community programs revenue	533,171	-	533,171
Contributions and grants	4,539,696	1,061,425	5,601,121
Contributed materials and services	34,425	-	34,425
Miscellaneous revenue	170,218	-	170,218
Net assets released from restrictions	 80,933	(80,933)	-
Total revenue and support	 32,616,598	980,492	33,597,090
Operating expenses:			
Program services:			0 440 000
Animal care, health and conservation	8,418,338	-	8,418,338
Education and learning	2,200,807	-	2,200,807
Life support and facilities	4,725,813	-	4,725,813
Guest services	 5,628,380	-	5,628,380
Total program services	 20,973,338	-	20,973,338
Support services:			
Executive, finance and human resources	3,610,226	-	3,610,226
Development and membership	1,098,242	-	1,098,242
Marketing and sales	 1,694,697	-	1,694,697
Total support services	 6,403,165	-	6,403,165
Total operating expenses	 27,376,503	-	27,376,503
Operating income before other income (expenses)	 5,240,095	980,492	6,220,587
Other income (expenses):			
Interest expense	(8,913)	-	(8,913)
Gain on disposal of capital assets	7,700	-	7,700
Change in value of beneficial interest in assets			
held by Community Foundation	-	(21,205)	(21,205)
Investment return, net	10,702	(189,732)	(179,030)
Paycheck Protection Program loan forgiveness	2,005,753	-	2,005,753
Contract termination fee	 (665,000)	-	(665,000)
Total other income (expenses)	 1,350,242	(210,937)	1,139,305
Change in net assets	6,590,337	769,555	7,359,892
Net assets:			
Beginning	 32,089,108	1,555,861	33,644,969
Ending	\$ 38,679,445	\$ 2,325,416	\$ 41,004,861

# Consolidated Statement of Activities Year Ended September 30, 2021

	Vithout Donor Restrictions	With Donor Restrictions	Total
Revenue and support:			
Admissions	\$ 17,399,716	\$ -	\$ 17,399,716
Membership revenue	1,407,739	-	1,407,739
Gift shop sales, net	1,113,795	-	1,113,795
Restaurant sales, net	1,013,928	-	1,013,928
Parking revenue	1,019,359	-	1,019,359
Community programs revenue	267,100	-	267,100
Contributions and grants	12,332,377	63,507	12,395,884
Miscellaneous revenue	174,174	-	174,174
Net assets released from restrictions	59,145	(59,145)	-
Total revenue and support	 34,787,333	4,362	34,791,695
Operating expenses: Program services:			
Animal care, health and conservation	6,381,844	-	6,381,844
Education and learning	1,698,732	-	1,698,732
Life support and facilities	3,724,231	-	3,724,231
Guest services	4,000,417	-	4,000,417
Total program services	 15,805,224	-	15,805,224
Support services:			
Executive, finance and human resources	3,018,452	-	3,018,452
Development and membership	832,560	-	832,560
Marketing and sales	1,229,399		1,229,399
Total support services	 5,080,411	-	5,080,411
Total operating expenses	 20,885,635	-	20,885,635
Operating income before other income (expenses)	 13,901,698	4,362	13,906,060
Other income (expenses):			
Interest expense	(32,448)	-	(32,448)
Change in value of beneficial interest in assets			
held by Community Foundation	-	29,641	29,641
Investment return, net	4,150	277,155	281,305
Paycheck Protection Program loan forgiveness	2,003,198		2,003,198
Total other income (expenses)	 1,974,900	306,796	2,281,696
Change in net assets	15,876,598	311,158	16,187,756
Net assets:			
Beginning	 16,212,510	1,244,703	17,457,213
Ending	\$ 32,089,108	\$ 1,555,861	\$ 33,644,969

# Consolidated Statement of Functional Expenses Year Ended September 30, 2022

	Program Services							Support Services							_				
	Α	nimal care,							Total		Executive,	De	velopment				Total	-	
	ł	nealth and		Education	L	ife support		Guest	program		finance and		and		Marketing		support		
	cc	onservation	a	nd learning	a	nd facilities		services	services		human resources	m	embership		and sales		services		Total
Operating expenses:																			
Salaries and benefits	\$	5,247,358	\$	1,747,362	\$	1,681,462	\$	2,398,395	\$ 11,074,577	\$	2,032,170	\$	743,236	\$	269,923	\$	3,045,329	\$	14,119,906
Advertising and promotions		13,000		-		-		141,492	154,492		18,101		40,637		1,235,874		1,294,612		1,449,104
Occupancy related		577,507		92,893		2,053,000		508,145	3,231,545		46,049		32,234		32,234		110,517		3,342,062
Insurance		183,451		78,813		104,334		136,153	502,751		44,127		6,305		6,305		56,737		559,488
Professional services		233,155		74,225		49,915		1,196,477	1,553,772		561,765		198,427		54,599		814,791		2,368,563
Animals, plants and food		541,912		-		12,668		-	554,580		-		-		-		-		554,580
Printing and postage		60,012		3,387		68,788		322	132,509		11,046		49,706		4,945		65,697		198,206
Supplies and materials		713,286		125,864		306,901		196,911	1,342,962		69,919		9,180		31,183		110,282		1,453,244
Travel and professional development		114,839		6,960		29,367		28,405	179,571		190,631		17,366		47,972		255,969		435,540
Other expenses		132,968		-		1,207		43,502	177,677		635,645		610		-		636,255		813,932
Depreciation		600,850		71,303		418,171		978,578	2,068,902		773		541		11,662		12,976		2,081,878
Total operating expenses		8,418,338		2,200,807		4,725,813		5,628,380	20,973,338		3,610,226		1,098,242		1,694,697		6,403,165		27,376,503
Interest expense		3,313		1,103		1,061		1,514	6,991		1,283		469		170		1,922		8,913
Contract termination fee		-		-		-		665,000	665,000		-		-		-		-		665,000
Total expenses	\$	8,421,651	\$	2,201,910	\$	4,726,874	\$	6,294,894	\$ 21,645,329	\$	3,611,509	\$	1,098,711	\$	1,694,867	\$	6,405,087	\$	28,050,416

# Consolidated Statement of Functional Expenses Year Ended September 30, 2021

			Program Service	s			Support Services															
	Animal care,				Total		Executive,	De	velopment		Total	-										
	health and	Education	Life support	Guest	program	f	finance and	ince and		Marketing	support											
	conservation	and learning	and facilities	services	services	hur	human resources		human resources		human resources		human resources		human resources		human resources		embership	and sales	services	Total
Operating expenses:																						
Salaries and benefits	\$ 4,028,934	\$ 1,321,236	\$ 1,350,712	\$ 1,926,461	\$ 8,627,343	\$	1,772,383	\$	665,795	\$ 237,481	\$ 2,675,659	\$ 11,303,002										
Advertising and promotions	14,334	-	-	63,484	77,818		23,238		43,508	842,288	909,034	986,852										
Occupancy related	388,987	94,200	1,599,250	228,356	2,310,793		47,101		32,970	32,970	113,041	2,423,834										
Insurance	145,158	63,690	87,380	118,367	414,595		40,695		5,095	5,095	50,885	465,480										
Professional services	170,284	56,504	18,247	520,587	765,622		449,517		30,288	53,735	533,540	1,299,162										
Animals, plants and food	516,246	-	4,366	-	520,612		-		-	-	-	520,612										
Printing and postage	52,023	3,324	36,743	65	92,155		9,569		34,554	684	44,807	136,962										
Supplies and materials	427,399	85,184	231,665	115,478	859,726		45,143		16,513	26,536	88,192	947,918										
Travel and professional development	28,564	2,982	16,143	8,273	55,962		88,226		2,784	18,231	109,241	165,203										
Other expenses	92,548	-	1,136	42,082	135,766		541,652		404	-	542,056	677,822										
Depreciation	517,367	71,612	378,589	977,264	1,944,832		928		649	12,379	13,956	1,958,788										
Total operating expenses	6,381,844	1,698,732	3,724,231	4,000,417	15,805,224		3,018,452		832,560	1,229,399	5,080,411	20,885,635										
Interest	11,566	3,793	3,878	5,530	24,767		5,088		1,911	682	7,681	32,448										
Total expenses	\$ 6,393,410	\$ 1,702,525	\$ 3,728,109	\$ 4,005,947	\$ 15,829,991	\$	3,023,540	\$	834,471	\$ 1,230,081	\$ 5,088,092	\$ 20,918,083										

# Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows Years Ended September 30, 2021 and 2022

Change in net assets\$7,359,892\$16,187,756Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to net cash provided by operating activities: Depreciation2,081,8781,958,788Gain on disposal of capital assets(7,700)-Paycheck Protection Program loan forgiveness (Provision) recovery for uncollectible receivables(1,569)18,000Write-off of uncollectible receivables(1,569)18,000Write-off of uncollectible receivables1,569-Contributions received for long-term purposes(1,296,441)(1,722,156)Change in value of beneficial interest in assets held by Community Foundation Unrealized loss (gain) on investments179,030(281,305)Changes in operating assets held by Community Foundation Unrealized loss (gain) on investments(423,164)(46,380)Contributions receivable(140,881)(20,414)Contributions receivable(140,881)(20,414)Contributions receivable(1,566)264,639Deferred revenue(1,864,494)322,372Net cash provided by operating activities-(3,947,903)Purchase of investing activities:-(3,947,903)Proceeds from investing activities:-(3,947,903)Purchase of capital assets7,700-Proceeds from sale of capital assets7,700-Proceeds from sale of capital assets-(3,947,903)Purchase of capital assetsProceeds from sale of capital assetsProceeds from sale of capital as			2022	2021
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to net cash       provided by operating activities:         Depreciation       2,081,873       1,958,788         Gain on disposal of capital assets       (7,700)       -         Paycheck Protection Program loan forgiveness       (2,005,753)       (2,003,198)         (Provision) recovery for uncollectible receivables       (1,569)       1,8000         Ontributions received for long-term purposes       (1,226,441)       (1,722,156)         Change in value of beneficial interest in assets held by Community Foundation       21,205       (2,804,315)         Changes in operating assets and liabilities:       (423,164)       (46,380)         Accounts receivable       (410,881)       (20,414)         Contributions receivable       (452,662)       (24,639)         Grants receivable       (140,881)       (20,414)         Contributions receivable       (452,662)       (24,639)         Deferred revenue       (182,666)       (24,639)         Deferred revenue       (182,666)       (24,639)         Proceeds from sale of capital assets       7,700       -         Proceeds from sale of capital assets       (2,171,809)       (5,744,400)         Cash flows from financing activities:       (2,164,109)       (5,744,400)         Pro	Cash flows from operating activities:			
provided by operating activities:     2,081,878     1,958,788       Depreciation     2,081,878     1,958,788       Gain on disposal of capital assets     (7,700)     -       Paycheck Protection Program ican forgiveness     (2,003,198)     18,000       Write-off of uncollectible receivables     (1,569)     18,000       Write-off of uncollectible receivables     1,569     -       Contributions receivable interest in assets held by Community Foundation     21,205     (29,841)       Unrealized loss (gain) on investments     179,030     (21,208,118)       Contributions receivable     (423,164)     (46,380)       Grants receivable     (140,881)     (20,411)       Contributions receivable     (148,881)     (20,411)       Contributions receivable     (148,881)     (20,414)       Contributions receivable     (148,881)     (20,414)       Contributions receivable     (148,881)     (20,414)       Contributions receivable     (148,881)     (20,414)       Contributions receivable     (142,666)     264,639       Deferred revenue     (182,666)     264,639       Deformed revenue     (1,854,444)     322,237       Net cash provided by operating activities     7,700     -       Proceeds from notes payable     (1,17,96,497)     -	Change in net assets	\$	7,359,892 \$	16,187,756
Depreciation2,081,8781,958,788Gain on disposal of capital assets(7,700)-Paycheck Protection Program loan forgiveness(2,005,753)(2,003,198)(Provision) recovery for uncollectible receivables(1,569)18,000Write-off of uncollectible receivables(1,569)-Contributions received for long-term purposes(1,296,441)(1,722,156)Change in value of beneficial interest in assets held by Community Foundation21,205(29,641)Unrealized loss (gain) on investments(265,071)-Accounts receivable(423,164)(46,380)Changes in operating assets and liabilities:(2,672)(3,516)Accounts receivable(140,891)(20,414)Contributions receivable(2,672)(3,516)Accounts receivable(162,666)264,639Deferred revenue(2,572)(3,516)Accounts payable and accrued expenses(1,62,666)264,639Deferred revenue(2,171,809)(1,764,97)Purchase of investments(2,171,809)(1,764,97)Purchase of capital assets7,700-Purchase of capital assets7,700-Net cash provided by operating activities489,9203,648,281Cash flows from financing activities:1,205,07412,516,526Cash and cash equivalents:1,205,07412,516,526Cash and cash equivalents:1,205,07412,516,526Cash and cash equivalents:1,205,075\$2,003,198Purchases of capital asse	Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to net cash			
Gain on disposal of capital assets(7,700)-Paycheck Protection Program loan forgiveness(2,003,763)(2,003,198)(Provision) recovery for uncollectible receivables(1,569)1,800Write-off of uncollectible receivables1,569-Contributions receivad for long-term purposes(1,256,441)(1,722,156)Change in value of beneficial interest in assets held by Community Foundation22,205(22,941)Unrealized loss (gain) on investments(423,164)(46,380)Crants receivable(4423,164)(46,380)Contributions receivable(443,081)(20,414)Contributions receivable(659,071)-Contributions receivable(162,666)264,639Accounts payable and accrued expenses(162,666)264,639Deferred revenue(1,864,494)322,372Net cash provided by operating activities:-(3,947,003)Proceeds from investing activities:Proceeds from sale of capital assets7,700-Cash neoeived finom contributions for long-term purposes489,9201,664,486Proceeds from notes payable-1,983,795Net cash and cash equivalents:-1,2516,526Cash neoeived from contributions for long-term purposes489,9203,648,281Net increase in cash and cash equivalents:-1,2516,526Cash and cash equivalents:-1,261,526Beginning15,414,2002,897,674Ending\$2,005,7532,003,198 <t< td=""><td>provided by operating activities:</td><td></td><td></td><td></td></t<>	provided by operating activities:			
Paycheck Protection Program loan forgiveness       (2,003,753)       (2,003,169)         (Provision) recovery for uncollectible receivables       (1,569)       18,000         Write-off of uncollectible receivables       (1,569)       -         Contributions receivable       (1,226,441)       (1,722,156)         Change in operating assets and liabilities:       (223,164)       (46,380)         Accounts receivable       (423,164)       (46,380)         Grants receivable       (423,164)       (46,380)         Contributions receivable       (162,666)       2264,631         Accounts payable and accrued expenses       (162,666)       2264,633         Deferred revenue       (162,666)       2264,633         Proceeds from investing activities:       2,879,263       14,612,645         Proceeds from sale of capital assets       7,700       -         Purchase of investments       (2,171,809)       (1,706,477)         Purchase of capital assets       7,700       -         Cash flows from financing activities:       (2,171,809)       (1,706,477)         Purchase of capital assets       7,700       -       1,983,795         Net cash provided by pirancing activities:       2,897,920       3,648,281       -       1,983,795         Net ca	Depreciation		2,081,878	1,958,788
(Provision) recovery for uncollectible receivables       (1,569)       18,000         Write-off of uncollectible receivables       1,569       -         Contributions received for long-term purposes       (1,28,41)       (1,722,156)         Change in value of beneficial interest in assets held by Community Foundation       21,205       (28,641)         Unrealized loss (gain) on investments       179,030       (281,305)         Change in operating assets and liabilities:       423,164       (46,380)         Accounts receivable       (140,861)       (20,414)         Contributions receivable       (859,071)       -         Other current assets       (2,572)       (36,816)         Accounts payable and accrued expenses       (16,266)       22,479,263         Deferred revenue       (1,864,494)       322,372         Not cash provided by operating activities       2,879,263       14,612,645         Cash flows from investing activities:       7,700       -         Purchase of investments       (2,171,809)       (1,796,497)         Net cash used in investing activities       489,920       3,644,281         Cash received from contributions for long-term purposes       499,920       1,664,486         Proceeds from notes payable       1,205,074       12,516,526	Gain on disposal of capital assets		(7,700)	-
Write-off of uncollectible receivables1,569-Contributions received for long-term purposes(1,296,441)(1,722,156)Change in value of beneficial interest in assets held by Community Foundation21,205(29,641)Unrealized loss (gain) on investments179,030(281,305)Changes in operating assets and liabilities:(423,164)(46,380)Accounts receivable(423,164)(46,380)Other current assets(2,572)(35,816)Accounts payable and accrued expenses(162,666)264,639Deferred revenue(1,864,494)322,372Not cash provided by operating activities7,700-Cash flows from investing activities(2,171,809)(1,76,497)Purchase of capital assets(2,171,809)(5,744,400)Cash flows from financing activities:(2,171,809)(1,264,486)Proceeds from notes payable-(1,883,952)Net cash provided by financing activities1,205,07412,516,526Cash received from contributions for long-term purposes489,9203,648,281Net increase in cash and cash equivalents1,205,07412,516,526Cash and cash equivalents:1,205,07412,516,526Cash and cash equivalents:15,414,2002,897,674Ending516,619,274\$Supplemental schedules of noncash investing and financing activities:52,005,753\$Purchases of capital assets included in accounts payable and accrued expenses5271,089\$14,651Grants	Paycheck Protection Program loan forgiveness		(2,005,753)	(2,003,198)
Contributions received for long-term purposes(1,286,441)(1,722,156)Change in value of beneficial interest in assets held by Community Foundation21,205(29,641)Unrealized loss (gain) on investments179,000(281,305)Changes in operating assets and liabilities:(423,164)(46,380)Accounts receivable(140,881)(20,414)Contributions receivable(140,881)(20,414)Contributions receivable(140,881)(20,414)Contributions receivable(165,071)-Other current assets(12,266)264,639Deferred revenue(1,864,484)322,372Net cash provided by operating activities2,879,26314,612,645Cash flows from investing activities:7,700-Proceeds from sale of capital assets(2,171,809)(1,709,497)Net cash used in investing activities(2,171,809)(1,704,490)Cash flows from financing activities(2,171,809)(1,964,486)Proceeds from notes payable-1,983,795Net cash provided by financing activities489,9203,648,281Net increase in cash and cash equivalents1,205,07412,516,526Cash and cash equivalents:1,205,07412,516,526Cash and cash equivalents:1,205,074\$,2,003,198Beginning5,414,2002,897,674\$,15,414,200Supplemental schedules of noncash investing and financing activities:\$,2,005,753\$,2,003,198Purchases of capital assets included in accounts payable and accrued expenses<	(Provision) recovery for uncollectible receivables		(1,569)	18,000
Contributions received for long-term purposes(1,286,441)(1,722,156)Change in value of beneficial interest in assets held by Community Foundation21,205(29,641)Unrealized loss (gain) on investments179,000(281,305)Changes in operating assets and liabilities:(423,164)(46,380)Accounts receivable(140,881)(20,414)Contributions receivable(140,881)(20,414)Contributions receivable(140,881)(20,414)Contributions receivable(165,071)-Other current assets(12,266)264,639Deferred revenue(1,864,484)322,372Net cash provided by operating activities2,879,26314,612,645Cash flows from investing activities:7,700-Proceeds from sale of capital assets(2,171,809)(1,709,497)Net cash used in investing activities(2,171,809)(1,704,490)Cash flows from financing activities(2,171,809)(1,964,486)Proceeds from notes payable-1,983,795Net cash provided by financing activities489,9203,648,281Net increase in cash and cash equivalents1,205,07412,516,526Cash and cash equivalents:1,205,07412,516,526Cash and cash equivalents:1,205,074\$,2,003,198Beginning5,414,2002,897,674\$,15,414,200Supplemental schedules of noncash investing and financing activities:\$,2,005,753\$,2,003,198Purchases of capital assets included in accounts payable and accrued expenses<	Write-off of uncollectible receivables		1,569	-
Change in value of beneficial interest in assets held by Community Foundation Unrealized loss (gain) on investments21,205 (29,641)(29,641)Unrealized loss (gain) on investments(423,164)(46,380)Changes in operating assets and liabilities: Accounts receivable(423,164)(46,380)Contributions receivable(440,881)(20,414)Contributions receivable(140,881)(20,414)Contributions receivable(2,572)(35,816)Accounts payable and accrued expenses(162,666)264,639Deferred revenue(1,864,494)322,372Net cash provided by operating activities2,879,26314,612,645Cash flows from investing activities: Proceeds from sales of capital assets7,700-Purchase of investments(2,171,809)(5,744,400)Cash flows from financing activities: Cash received from notes payable(2,849,281)(1,664,486Proceeds from notes payable Net cash provided by financing activities1,205,07412,516,526Cash and cash equivalents: Beginning1,205,07412,516,526Cash and cash equivalents: Paycheck Protection Program principal and financing activities: Paycheck Protection Program principal and loan interest forgiven\$2,005,753\$2,003,198Purchases of capital assets included in accounts payable and accrued expenses\$271,029\$57,670	Contributions received for long-term purposes			(1,722,156)
Unrealized loss (gain) on investments179,030(281,305)Changes in operating assets and liabilities:423,164)(46,380)Accounts receivable(140,881)(20,414)Contributions receivable(859,071)-Other current assets(2,572)(36,816)Accounts payable and accrued expenses(162,666)264,639Deferred revenue(1,864,494)322,372Net cash provided by operating activities2,879,26314,612,645Cash flows from investing activities:7,700-Proceeds from sale of capital assets(2,171,809)(1,796,497)Net cash used in investing activities:(2,164,109)(5,744,400)Cash flows from financing activities:(2,164,109)(5,744,400)Cash flows from financing activities:1,983,7951,983,795Net cash provided by financing activities489,9203,648,281Net increase in cash and cash equivalents1,205,07412,516,526Cash and cash equivalents:1,205,07412,516,526Cash and cash equivalents:1,5414,2002,897,674Ending\$ 16,619,274\$ 15,414,200Supplemental schedules of noncash investing and financing activities:\$ 2,005,753\$ 2,003,198Purchases of capital assets included in accounts payable and accrued expenses\$ 271,089\$ 14,651Grants received for long-term purposes in grants receivable\$ 772,096\$ 57,670	Change in value of beneficial interest in assets held by Community Foundation			
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:Accounts receivable(423,164)(46,380)Grants receivable(423,164)(46,380)Contributions receivable(423,164)(46,380)Contributions receivable(2,572)(35,816)Accounts payable and accrued expenses(152,666)264,639Deferred revenue(1864,494)322,372Net cash provided by operating activities2,879,26314,612,645Cash flows from investing activities:7,700-Purchase of capital assets7,700-Purchase of capital assets(2,171,809)(1,796,497)Net cash used in investing activities(2,171,809)(1,796,497)Cash flows from financing activities:(2,164,109)(5,744,400)Cash flows from notes payable-1,983,795Net cash provided by financing activities489,9203,648,281Net increase in cash and cash equivalents1,205,07412,516,526Cash and cash equivalents:15,414,2002,897,674Beginning15,414,2002,897,674Supplemental schedules of noncash investing and financing activities:\$2,005,753Paycheck Protection Program principal and loan interest forgiven\$2,005,753Purchases of capital assets included in accounts payable and accrued expenses\$271,089Purchases of capital assets included in accounts payable and accrued expenses\$271,089Starting14,651\$57,670			•	
Accounts receivable(423,164)(46,380)Grants receivable(140,881)(20,414)Contributions receivable(859,071)-Other current assets(2,572)(35,816)Accounts payable and accrued expenses(152,666)264,639Deferred revenue(1,864,494)322,372Net cash provided by operating activities2,879,26314,612,645Cash flows from investing activities:7,700-Purchase of investments-(3,947,903)Purchase of capital assets7,700-Net cash used in investing activities(2,171,809)(1,796,497)Net cash used in investing activities(2,171,809)(5,744,400)Cash flows from financing activities2,879,2201,664,486Proceeds from notes payable-1,983,795Net cash provided by financing activities489,9203,644,281Net increase in cash and cash equivalents1,205,07412,516,526Cash and cash equivalents:1,205,07412,516,526Beginning15,414,2002,897,674Ending\$16,619,274\$Supplemental schedules of noncash investing and financing activities:\$2,005,753\$Purchases of capital assets included in accounts payable and accrued expenses\$271,089\$14,651Grants received for long-term purposes in grants receivable\$772,096\$57,670			,	(,)
Grants receivable(140,881)(20,414)Contributions receivable(140,881)(20,414)Other current assets(152,666)264,639Deferred revenue(1364,494)322,372Net cash provided by operating activities2,879,26314,612,645Cash flows from investing activities:2,879,26314,612,645Purchase of capital assets7,700-Purchase of capital assets(2,171,009)(1,796,497)Net cash used in investing activities:(2,164,109)(5,744,400)Cash flows from financing activities:(2,164,109)(5,744,400)Cash received from contributions for long-term purposes489,9201,664,486Proceeds from notes payable-1,983,795Net cash provided by financing activities489,9203,648,281Net increase in cash and cash equivalents1,205,07412,516,526Cash and cash equivalents:1,205,07412,516,526Supplemental schedules of noncash investing and financing activities:\$2,005,753\$Paycheck Protection Program principal and loan interest forgiven\$2,005,753\$2,003,198Purchases of capital assets included in accounts payable and accrued expenses\$271,089\$14,651Grants received for long-term purposes in grants receivable\$772,096\$57,670			(423 164)	(46,380)
Contributions receivable(859,071)Other current assets(2,572)Accounts payable and accrued expenses(162,666)Deferred revenue(182,666)Net cash provided by operating activitiesProceeds from sale of capital assets7,700Purchase of capital assets(2,171,109)Purchase of capital assets(2,171,109)Purchase of capital assets(2,164,109)Cash flows from investing activities:Proceeds from sale of capital assets(2,171,109)Purchase of capital assets(2,171,109)(1,179,647)Net cash used in investing activities:Cash received from contributions for long-term purposesAtt cash provided by financing activitiesCash received from notes payableNet cash equivalents:Beginning15,414,200Supplemental schedules of noncash investing and financing activities:Paycheck Protection Program principal and loan interest forgivenSupplemental schedules of noncash investing and financing activities:Paycheck Protection Program principal and loan interest forgivenPurchases of capital assets included in accounts payable and accrued expensesSupplemental assets included in accounts payable and accrued expensesPurchases of capital assets included in accounts payable and accrued expensesSupplemental schedules of noncash investing and financing activities:Paycheck Protection Program principal and loan interest forgivenSupplemental assets included in accounts payable and accrued expensesSupplemental assets included in accounts payabl				. ,
Other current assets(2,572)(35,816)Accounts payable and accrued expenses(1,62,666)264,639Deferred revenue(1,864,494)322,372Net cash provided by operating activities2,879,26314,612,645Cash flows from investing activities:7,700-Proceeds from sale of capital assets(2,171,809)(1,796,497)Purchase of investments(2,114,809)(1,796,497)Net cash used in investing activities:(2,164,109)(5,744,400)Cash flows from financing activities:(2,164,109)(5,744,400)Cash received from contributions for long-term purposes489,9201,664,486Proceeds from notes payable-1,983,795Net cash provided by financing activities489,9203,648,281Net increase in cash and cash equivalents1,205,07412,516,526Cash and cash equivalents:1,205,07412,516,526Beginning15,414,2002,897,674Ending\$ 16,619,274 \$ 15,414,200Supplemental schedules of noncash investing and financing activities:Paycheck Protection Program principal and loan interest forgiven\$ 2,005,753 \$ 2,003,198Purchases of capital assets included in accounts payable and accrued expenses\$ 271,089 \$ 14,651Grants received for long-term purposes in grants receivable\$ 772,096 \$ 57,670				(20,414)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses       (162,666)       264,639         Deferred revenue       (1,864,494)       322,372         Net cash provided by operating activities       2,879,263       14,612,645         Cash flows from investing activities:       7,700       -         Proceeds from sale of capital assets       7,700       -         Purchase of capital assets       (1,217,809)       (1,706,497)         Purchase of capital assets       (2,171,809)       (1,766,497)         Net cash used in investing activities:       (2,164,109)       (5,744,400)         Cash flows from financing activities:       (2,164,109)       (5,744,400)         Cash received from contributions for long-term purposes       489,920       1,664,486         Proceeds from notes payable       -       1,983,795         Net cash provided by financing activities       489,920       3,648,281         Net increase in cash and cash equivalents       1,205,074       12,516,526         Cash and cash equivalents:       1,205,074       12,516,526         Beginning       15,414,200       2,897,674         Ending       16,619,274       15,414,200         Supplemental schedules of noncash investing and financing activities:       2,005,753       2,003,198         Purchases of capit				(25.916)
Deferred revenue(1,864,494)322,372Net cash provided by operating activities2,879,26314,612,645Cash flows from investing activities:7,700-Proceeds from sale of capital assets7,700-Purchase of capital assets(2,171,809)(1,796,497)Net cash used in investing activities:(2,164,109)(5,744,400)Cash flows from financing activities:289,9201,664,486Proceeds from notes payable-1,983,795Net cash provided by financing activities489,9203,648,281Net increase in cash and cash equivalents1,205,07412,516,526Cash and cash equivalents:1,205,07412,516,526Beginning15,414,2002,897,674Ending\$16,619,274\$Supplemental schedules of noncash investing and financing activities:\$2,005,753\$Paycheck Protection Program principal and loan interest forgiven\$2,005,753\$2,003,198Purchases of capital assets included in accounts payable and accrued expenses\$271,089\$14,651Grants received for long-term purposes in grants receivable\$772,096\$57,670			• • •	
Net cash provided by operating activities2,879,26314,612,645Cash flows from investing activities: Proceeds from sale of capital assets7,700-Purchase of investments-(3,947,903)Purchase of capital assets(2,171,809)(1,796,497)Net cash used in investing activities(2,164,109)(5,744,400)Cash flows from financing activities: Cash received from contributions for long-term purposes489,9201,664,486Proceeds from notes payable-1,983,795Net cash provided by financing activities489,9203,648,281Net increase in cash and cash equivalents1,205,07412,516,526Cash and cash equivalents: Beginning15,414,2002,897,674Ending\$16,619,274\$15,414,200Supplemental schedules of noncash investing and financing activities: Paycheck Protection Program principal and loan interest forgiven\$2,005,753\$2,003,198Purchases of capital assets included in accounts payable and accrued expenses\$271,089\$14,651Grants received for long-term purposes in grants receivable\$772,096\$57,670				
Cash flows from investing activities:       Proceeds from sale of capital assets       7,700       -         Purchase of investments       (2,171,809)       (1,796,497)         Net cash used in investing activities       (2,164,109)       (5,744,400)         Cash flows from financing activities:       (2,164,109)       (5,744,400)         Cash received from contributions for long-term purposes       489,920       1,664,486         Proceeds from notes payable       -       1,983,795         Net cash provided by financing activities       489,920       3,648,281         Net increase in cash and cash equivalents       1,205,074       12,516,526         Cash and cash equivalents:       1,205,074       12,516,526         Supplemental schedules of noncash investing and financing activities:       2,897,674       \$         Purchases of capital assets included in accounts payable and accrued expenses       \$       2,005,753       \$       2,003,198         Purchases of capital assets included in accounts payable and accrued expenses       \$       271,089       \$       14,651         Grants received for long-term purposes in grants receivable       \$       772,096       \$       57,670				
Proceeds from sale of capital assets       7,700       -         Purchase of investments       -       (3,947,903)         Purchase of capital assets       (2,171,809)       (1,796,497)         Net cash used in investing activities       (2,171,809)       (1,796,497)         Cash flows from financing activities:       (2,164,109)       (5,744,400)         Cash received from contributions for long-term purposes       489,920       1,664,486         Proceeds from notes payable       -       1,983,795         Net cash provided by financing activities       489,920       3,648,281         Net increase in cash and cash equivalents       1,205,074       12,516,526         Cash and cash equivalents:       1,205,074       12,516,526         Seginning       15,414,200       2,897,674         Ending       \$       16,619,274       \$         Supplemental schedules of noncash investing and financing activities:       \$       2,005,753       \$       2,003,198         Purchases of capital assets included in accounts payable and accrued expenses       \$       271,089       \$       14,651         Grants received for long-term purposes in grants receivable       \$       772,096       \$       57,670	Net cash provided by operating activities		2,879,263	14,612,645
Purchase of investments       . (3,947,903)         Purchase of capital assets       (2,171,809)       (1,796,497)         Net cash used in investing activities       (2,164,109)       (5,744,400)         Cash flows from financing activities:       2       1,664,486         Proceeds from notes payable       1,983,795       1,983,795         Net cash provided by financing activities       489,920       3,648,281         Net increase in cash and cash equivalents       1,205,074       12,516,526         Cash and cash equivalents:       15,414,200       2,897,674         Beginning       15,414,200       2,897,674         Ending       \$ 16,619,274       \$ 15,414,200         Supplemental schedules of noncash investing and financing activities:       2,005,753       \$ 2,003,198         Purchases of capital assets included in accounts payable and accrued expenses       \$ 271,089       \$ 14,651         Grants received for long-term purposes in grants receivable       \$ 772,096       \$ 57,670	Cash flows from investing activities:			
Purchase of capital assets       (2,171,809)       (1,796,497)         Net cash used in investing activities       (2,164,109)       (5,744,400)         Cash flows from financing activities:       2,89,920       1,664,486         Proceeds from notes payable       -       1,983,795         Net cash provided by financing activities       489,920       3,648,281         Net increase in cash and cash equivalents       1,205,074       12,516,526         Cash and cash equivalents:       15,414,200       2,897,674         Beginning       15,414,200       2,897,674         Ending       \$ 16,619,274       15,414,200         Supplemental schedules of noncash investing and financing activities:       Paycheck Protection Program principal and loan interest forgiven       \$ 2,005,753       \$ 2,003,198         Purchases of capital assets included in accounts payable and accrued expenses       \$ 271,089       \$ 14,651         Grants received for long-term purposes in grants receivable       \$ 772,096       \$ 57,670	Proceeds from sale of capital assets		7,700	-
Purchase of capital assets       (2,171,809)       (1,796,497)         Net cash used in investing activities       (2,164,109)       (5,744,400)         Cash flows from financing activities:       2,89,920       1,664,486         Proceeds from notes payable       -       1,983,795         Net cash provided by financing activities       489,920       3,648,281         Net increase in cash and cash equivalents       1,205,074       12,516,526         Cash and cash equivalents:       15,414,200       2,897,674         Beginning       15,414,200       2,897,674         Ending       \$ 16,619,274       15,414,200         Supplemental schedules of noncash investing and financing activities:       Paycheck Protection Program principal and loan interest forgiven       \$ 2,005,753       \$ 2,003,198         Purchases of capital assets included in accounts payable and accrued expenses       \$ 271,089       \$ 14,651         Grants received for long-term purposes in grants receivable       \$ 772,096       \$ 57,670	Purchase of investments		-	(3,947,903)
Net cash used in investing activities(2,164,109)(5,744,400)Cash flows from financing activities: Cash received from contributions for long-term purposes489,9201,664,486Proceeds from notes payable-1,983,795Net cash provided by financing activities489,9203,648,281Net increase in cash and cash equivalents1,205,07412,516,526Cash and cash equivalents: Beginning15,414,2002,897,674Ending\$16,619,274\$15,414,200Supplemental schedules of noncash investing and financing activities: Paycheck Protection Program principal and loan interest forgiven\$2,005,753\$2,003,198Purchases of capital assets included in accounts payable and accrued expenses\$271,089\$14,651Grants received for long-term purposes in grants receivable\$772,096\$57,670	Purchase of capital assets		(2,171,809)	
Cash received from contributions for long-term purposes489,9201,664,486Proceeds from notes payable-1,983,795Net cash provided by financing activities489,9203,648,281Net increase in cash and cash equivalents1,205,07412,516,526Cash and cash equivalents: Beginning15,414,2002,897,674Ending16,619,274\$15,414,200Supplemental schedules of noncash investing and financing activities: Paycheck Protection Program principal and loan interest forgiven\$2,005,753\$Purchases of capital assets included in accounts payable and accrued expenses\$271,089\$14,651Grants received for long-term purposes in grants receivable\$772,096\$57,670	Net cash used in investing activities		(2,164,109)	(5,744,400)
Cash received from contributions for long-term purposes489,9201,664,486Proceeds from notes payable-1,983,795Net cash provided by financing activities489,9203,648,281Net increase in cash and cash equivalents1,205,07412,516,526Cash and cash equivalents: Beginning15,414,2002,897,674Ending16,619,274\$15,414,200Supplemental schedules of noncash investing and financing activities: Paycheck Protection Program principal and loan interest forgiven\$2,005,753\$Purchases of capital assets included in accounts payable and accrued expenses\$271,089\$14,651Grants received for long-term purposes in grants receivable\$772,096\$57,670	Cash flows from financing activities:			
Proceeds from notes payable-1,983,795Net cash provided by financing activities489,9203,648,281Net increase in cash and cash equivalents1,205,07412,516,526Cash and cash equivalents: Beginning15,414,2002,897,674Ending15,414,2002,897,674Supplemental schedules of noncash investing and financing activities: Paycheck Protection Program principal and loan interest forgiven\$2,005,753\$2,003,198Purchases of capital assets included in accounts payable and accrued expenses\$271,089\$14,651Grants received for long-term purposes in grants receivable\$772,096\$57,670	-		189 920	1 664 486
Net cash provided by financing activities489,9203,648,281Net increase in cash and cash equivalents1,205,07412,516,526Cash and cash equivalents: Beginning15,414,2002,897,674Ending15,414,2002,897,674Supplemental schedules of noncash investing and financing activities: Paycheck Protection Program principal and loan interest forgiven\$ 2,005,753\$ 2,003,198Purchases of capital assets included in accounts payable and accrued expenses\$ 271,089\$ 14,651Grants received for long-term purposes in grants receivable\$ 772,096\$ 57,670			403,320	
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents1,205,07412,516,526Cash and cash equivalents: Beginning15,414,2002,897,674Ending15,414,2002,897,674Supplemental schedules of noncash investing and financing activities: Paycheck Protection Program principal and loan interest forgiven\$ 2,005,753 \$ 2,003,198Purchases of capital assets included in accounts payable and accrued expenses\$ 271,089 \$ 14,651Grants received for long-term purposes in grants receivable\$ 772,096 \$ 57,670			489 920	
Cash and cash equivalents:       Beginning       15,414,200       2,897,674         Ending       \$ 16,619,274       \$ 15,414,200         Supplemental schedules of noncash investing and financing activities:       Paycheck Protection Program principal and loan interest forgiven       \$ 2,005,753       \$ 2,003,198         Purchases of capital assets included in accounts payable and accrued expenses       \$ 271,089       \$ 14,651         Grants received for long-term purposes in grants receivable       \$ 772,096       \$ 57,670	Her cash provided by mancing activities		403,320	3,040,201
Beginning15,414,2002,897,674Ending\$ 16,619,274\$ 15,414,200Supplemental schedules of noncash investing and financing activities: Paycheck Protection Program principal and loan interest forgiven\$ 2,005,753\$ 2,003,198Purchases of capital assets included in accounts payable and accrued expenses\$ 271,089\$ 14,651Grants received for long-term purposes in grants receivable\$ 772,096\$ 57,670	Net increase in cash and cash equivalents		1,205,074	12,516,526
Ending\$ 16,619,274 \$ 15,414,200Supplemental schedules of noncash investing and financing activities: Paycheck Protection Program principal and loan interest forgiven\$ 2,005,753 \$ 2,003,198Purchases of capital assets included in accounts payable and accrued expenses\$ 271,089 \$ 14,651Grants received for long-term purposes in grants receivable\$ 772,096 \$ 57,670	Cash and cash equivalents:			
Supplemental schedules of noncash investing and financing activities:         Paycheck Protection Program principal and loan interest forgiven         Purchases of capital assets included in accounts payable and accrued expenses         \$ 271,089 \$ 14,651         Grants received for long-term purposes in grants receivable	Beginning		15,414,200	2,897,674
Paycheck Protection Program principal and loan interest forgiven\$ 2,005,753 \$ 2,003,198Purchases of capital assets included in accounts payable and accrued expenses\$ 271,089 \$ 14,651Grants received for long-term purposes in grants receivable\$ 772,096 \$ 57,670	Ending	\$	16,619,274 \$	15,414,200
Paycheck Protection Program principal and loan interest forgiven\$ 2,005,753 \$ 2,003,198Purchases of capital assets included in accounts payable and accrued expenses\$ 271,089 \$ 14,651Grants received for long-term purposes in grants receivable\$ 772,096 \$ 57,670	Supplemental schedules of noncash investing and financing activities			
Grants received for long-term purposes in grants receivable \$772,096 \$57,670		\$	2,005,753 \$	2,003,198
Grants received for long-term purposes in grants receivable \$772,096 \$57,670	Purchases of capital assets included in accounts payable and accrued expenses	¢	271 089 ¢	14 651
		<u>Ψ</u>	211,003 φ	14,001
Contributions of nonfinancial capital assets	Grants received for long-term purposes in grants receivable	\$	772,096 \$	57,670
	Contributions of nonfinancial capital assets	\$	<u>34,425 </u> \$	-

# Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

# Note 1. Nature of Activities and Significant Accounting Policies

**Nature of activities:** The Florida Aquarium, Inc. was incorporated on December 12, 1986, in the State of Florida, as a nonprofit organization. The construction of an aquarium (the Facility) was completed and opened to the public in March 1995. In October 1996, The Florida Aquarium, Inc. sold the Facility and related assets to the city of Tampa, Florida (the City), and entered into an agreement with the City for management of the Facility (the Management Agreement). That Management Agreement expired on September 30, 2009. A new 30-year (with two automatic 10-year extensions) Lease and Operating Agreement (the Operating Agreement) was executed and became effective on October 1, 2009. The Operating Agreement defines the rights and obligations of the City and The Florida Aquarium, Inc. management. The Florida Aquarium Inc.'s mission is to entertain, educate and inspire stewardship about our natural environment, with a vision to protect and restore our blue planet.

The Florida Aquarium Foundation, Inc. (the Foundation) was incorporated on October 10, 1996, in the State of Florida, as a nonprofit organization. The Foundation was created to solicit and receive contributions or other support to be disbursed and used for charitable, educational and specific purposes, including the making of distributions for such purposes to organizations that qualify as exempt organizations under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code (IRC) of 1986, as amended. Unless otherwise determined by the Foundation's Board of Directors, the recipient of such distributions shall be the Florida Aquarium, Inc.

A summary of The Florida Aquarium, Inc. and the Foundation's significant accounting policies follows:

**Principles of consolidation:** The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts for The Florida Aquarium, Inc. and the Foundation (collectively, the Aquarium). As the Foundation's Board of Directors are required to be appointed and elected by The Florida Aquarium, Inc.'s Board of Directors, and the purpose of the Foundation is to support The Florida Aquarium, Inc., a controlling financial interest exists, and the financial activities of The Florida Aquarium, Inc. and the Foundation have been consolidated. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

**Basis of presentation:** A nonprofit organization is required to report information regarding its financial position and activities in accordance to two classes of net assets: without donor restrictions and with donor restrictions. Accordingly, net assets of the Aquarium and changes therein are classified and reported as follows:

*Net assets without donor restrictions:* Contributions and other inflows of assets that are not subject to donor-imposed stipulations but may be designated for specific purposes by action of the Board of Directors (Board). Net assets without donor restrictions include expendable funds available to support operations as well as net assets invested in property and equipment.

**Net assets with donor restrictions:** Contributions and other inflows of assets subject to donor-imposed stipulations that may or will be met by actions of the Aquarium or the passage of time or are permanently maintained by the Aquarium. When a donor restriction expires, that is, when a stipulated time restriction ends or purpose restriction is accomplished, net assets with donor restrictions are released to net assets without donor restrictions and reported in the accompanying consolidated statements of activities as net assets released from restrictions. Gifts of long-lived assets with explicit restrictions that specify how the assets are to be used and gifts of cash or other assets that must be used to acquire long-lived assets must be maintained, the Aquarium reports expirations of donor restrictions when the donated or acquired long-lived assets are placed in service.

# Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

# Note 1. Nature of Activities and Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

**Operating activities:** The consolidated statements of activities include a subtotal for operating income. Items not considered operating activities represent interest expense, gain on disposal of capital assets, change in value of beneficial interest in assets held by Community Foundation, investment return, net, Paycheck Protection Program loan forgiveness, and contract termination fees.

**Use of estimates:** The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

**Fair value measurements:** The Aquarium measures investments and the beneficial interest in assets held by Community Foundation at fair value on a recurring basis. The Aquarium follows accounting guidance which defines fair value and specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The disclosure of fair value estimates is based on whether the significant inputs into the valuation are observable. In determining the level of hierarchy in which the estimate is disclosed, the highest priority is given to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs.

- **Level 1:** Unadjusted quoted market prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets which are accessible by the Aquarium.
- Level 2: Observable prices in active markets for similar assets or liabilities. Prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active. Market inputs that are not directly observable but are derived from or corroborated by observable market data.
- **Level 3:** Unobservable inputs based on the Aquarium's own judgment as to assumptions a market participant would use, including inputs derived from extrapolation and interpolation that are not corroborated by observable market data.

The Aquarium evaluates the various types of financial assets and liabilities to determine the appropriate fair value hierarchy based upon trading activity and the observability of market inputs. The Aquarium employs control processes to validate the reasonableness of the fair value estimates of its assets and liabilities, including those estimates based on prices and quotes obtained from independent third-party sources.

While the Aquarium believes its valuation methods are appropriate and consistent with other market participants, the use of different methodologies and assumptions to determine the fair value of certain financial instruments could result in a different estimate of fair value at the report date.

During the years ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, there were no changes in the Aquarium's valuation techniques that had, or are expected to have, a material impact on its consolidated statements of financial position or activities.

**Liquidity:** Assets are presented in the accompanying consolidated financial statements according to their nearness to cash and liabilities according to their nearness to maturity and resulting use of cash.

# Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

# Note 1. Nature of Activities and Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

**Cash and cash equivalents:** Cash and cash equivalents include cash held in commercial checking accounts and cash held in money market accounts with original maturities of three months or less.

Cash equivalents held for investment that are managed as part of the Aquarium's investments are reported within investments in the consolidated statements of financial position. Cash equivalents held for investments are excluded from cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statements of cash flows as these funds are not used for operating needs.

**Concentration of credit risk:** The Aquarium maintains its cash balances at several financial institutions which, at times, may exceed federally insured limits. The Aquarium monitors its exposure associated with cash and cash equivalents and has not experienced any losses in such accounts.

Concentrations of credit risk with respect to receivables exist. Approximately 84% and 56% of gross accounts receivable as of September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively, were from three and two customers. Approximately 71% and 95% of grants receivable as of September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively, were from two and four grantors, respectively. As of September 30, 2022, 100% of contributions receivable were from two donors.

**Investments:** Investment purchases are recorded at cost, or if donated, at fair value on the date of donation. Thereafter, investments are reported at their estimated fair values in the consolidated statements of financial position. Investment income is reported in the consolidated statements of activities and consists of interest and dividend income and realized and unrealized gains and losses, less external investment expenses.

The Aquarium's investment policy authorizes investments in U.S. government obligations and direct obligations of U.S. government agencies, equities and short-term money markets composed of certificates of deposit, money market funds and repurchase agreements. The policy specifically prohibits investments in certain items such as derivatives, commodities, foreign securities listed solely outside the United States of America, direct real estate or mortgages, and security loans.

The Aquarium invests in a professionally managed portfolio that contains common shares of publicly traded companies, mutual funds and money market funds. Such investments are exposed to various risks such as interest rate, market and credit.

Accounts receivable: Accounts receivable are stated at cost and does not bear interest. The Aquarium maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses inherent in its accounts receivable portfolio. In establishing the required allowance, management considers historical losses adjusted to take into account current market conditions and the Aquarium's customers' financial condition, the amount of receivables in dispute, and the current receivables aging and current payment patterns. The Aquarium reviews its allowance for doubtful accounts monthly. Past due balances over 90 days and over a specified amount are reviewed individually for collectability. Account balances are charged off against the allowance after all means of collection have been exhausted and the potential for recovery is considered remote. Management has set an allowance for approximately \$10,000 as of September 30, 2022 and 2021.

**Grants receivable:** Grants receivable are stated less an allowance for doubtful accounts. Management's determination of an allowance is based on historical experience, knowledge of grantor and other circumstances. Management believes grants receivable to be fully collectible as of September 30, 2022 and 2021.

# Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

# Note 1. Nature of Activities and Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

**Contributions receivable:** Contributions receivable due in one year or less are reported at net realizable value. Amounts due under contributions receivable over a period of more than one year at the date of donation are reported at net present value using the market discount rate in effect at the date of the unconditional promise to give. Receivables are stated less an allowance for doubtful accounts. Management's determination of an allowance is based on historical experience, knowledge of donor and other circumstances. Management believes contributions receivable to be fully collectible as of September 30, 2022. There were no outstanding contributions receivable as of September 30, 2021.

**Beneficial interest in assets held by Community Foundation:** In 2000, the Aquarium established an endowment fund that is perpetual in nature (the fund) and transferred funds to the Community Foundation of Tampa Bay (Community Foundation) and named itself as the beneficiary. The terms of the fund agreements are considered reciprocal in nature and, therefore, the assets are recorded in the consolidated statements of financial position of the Aquarium. The Aquarium granted variance power to the Community Foundation, which allows the Community Foundation to modify any condition or restriction on its distributions for any specified charitable purpose or to any specified organization if, in the sole judgment of the Community Foundation's Board of Directors, such restriction or condition becomes unnecessary, incapable of fulfillment, or inconsistent with the charitable needs of the community. The fund is held and invested by the Community Foundation for the Aquarium's benefit and is reported at fair value in the statements of financial position, with distributions and changes in fair value recognized in the consolidated statements of activities.

Change in beneficial interest in assets held by Community Foundation that is restricted by the donor is reported as an increase in net assets with donor restrictions. When the restriction expires, net assets with donor restrictions are reclassified to net assets without donor restrictions.

**Capital assets:** Capital assets are stated at cost if purchased, or at estimated market value at date of receipt if acquired by gift. Expenditures for capital assets in excess of \$5,000 are capitalized. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives (three to five years) of the respective assets.

Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of their useful life or the lease term. Capital assets acquired with governmental funds are considered to be owned by the Aquarium while used in the program for which it was purchased or in future authorized programs; however, its disposition, as well as the ownership of any proceeds therefrom, is subject to applicable regulations.

Construction in progress is not depreciated until placed in service.

Expenditure for renewals and improvements that significantly add to the productive capacity to extend the useful life of the asset are capitalized. Expenditures for normal repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred. Upon retirement, sale or other disposition of property and equipment, the costs and accumulated depreciation are eliminated from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is included within the consolidated statements of activities.

**Impairment of long-lived assets:** The Aquarium evaluates the recoverability of its capital assets whenever adverse events and changes in the business climate indicate that the expected undiscounted future cash flows from the related asset may be less than previously anticipated. If the net book value of the related asset exceeds the undiscounted future cash flows of the asset, the carrying amount would be reduced to the present value of its expected future cash flows and an impairment loss would be recognized. Management believes no indication of impairment existed at September 30, 2022 and 2021.

# Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

# Note 1. Nature of Activities and Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

**Revenue recognition:** The Aquarium first determines if a transaction represents an exchange transaction and, if so, accounts for the transaction in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), which provides a five-step model for recognizing revenue from contracts with customers as follows:

- Identify the contract with a customer
- Identify the performance obligations in the contract
- Determine the transaction price
- Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract
- Recognize revenue when or as performance obligations are satisfied

The Aquarium's revenue streams under contracts with customers are composed of day-of admissions and programs/events, ancillary services (gift shop, restaurant, parking) and memberships. A portfolio approach to group contracts with similar characteristics is applied. For admissions, program/events and ancillary services, the Aquarium has the ongoing performance obligation to provide access to the building, exhibits, and events, and the obligation to provide the experience described. Revenue for admissions is recognized at the point in time when the customer is admitted to the Facility, or upon expiration of prepaid tickets (which are nonrefundable and nontransferable). Prepayments are recorded as deferred revenue/contract liabilities when collected. Program revenue for enhanced visitor experiences and events are recognized when the service is provided.

Memberships purchased include a performance obligation to provide various benefits over the membership period, which is typically one year. The primary benefit included in all memberships is unlimited admission during the term. Other benefits are considered immaterial (newsletters or member events) or are tied to the admission (gift shop and restaurant discounts). Memberships are recorded as deferred revenue/contract liabilities and recognized as membership revenue ratably over the membership period.

Revenue recognized from gift shop and restaurant sales relate to sales of products or services for which the Aquarium receives revenue based on a contractually defined commission structure.

In May 2022, the Aquarium outsourced its parking operation to the City under a contract where revenues received by the Aquarium are net of costs incurred by the City up to a base amount. Revenues earned over that base amount are then split based on a negotiated percentage.

Receivables and deferred revenues for revenue streams under contracts with customers are as follows as of September 30, 2022, September 30, 2021, and October 1, 2020:

# Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

# Note 1. Nature of Activities and Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

	September 30, 2022		Se	September 30, 2021		October 1, 2020
Receivables:						
Admissions	\$	101,742	\$	105,189	\$	12,861
Gift shop sales, net		91,711		81,486		40,753
Restaurant sales, net		271,588		75,707		23,056
Parking revenue		222,558		-		-
Community programs revenue		1,641		644		5,310
Miscellaneous revenue		9,788		12,838		25,535
Less allowance for doubtful accounts		(10,000)		(10,000)		(28,000)
Total receivables	\$	689,028	\$	265,864	\$	79,515
Deferred revenue:						
Admissions	\$	759,535	\$	769,767	\$	777,489
Membership revenue		1,551,075		1,245,206		610,799
Restaurant sales, net		-		2,168,072	2	2,481,529
Community programs revenue		21,311		13,370		4,225
Total deferred revenue	\$	2,331,921	\$	4,196,415	\$ (	3,874,042

The Aquarium performs an evaluation at contract inception focused on whether a performance obligation is satisfied over time or at a point in time. If a performance obligation meets certain specific criteria, the related revenue is recognized over time as the customer consumes and receives the benefit of the Aquarium's services as they are performed. If certain criteria is not met, the revenue is recognized at a point in time. The performance obligations for admissions, parking, community programs, and miscellaneous revenues are satisfied at a point in time. The performance obligation for membership revenue is satisfied over time (typically over one year). As the Aquarium is acting as an agent for gift shop and restaurant sales, this revenue is shown net and recognized over time.

The revenue streams noted above do not include significant financing components as the performance obligations are typically satisfied within a year of receipt of payment. Economic downturns can affect the level of revenue for all the revenue streams or can have a positive impact on cash flows in good economic times.

At September 30, 2021, deferred revenue also included the unamortized portion of a total of \$4.7 million originally received from the Aquarium's restaurant concessionaire for improvements to the food service operations, event center construction, outdoor catering spaces, and a 10-year contract extension. In accordance with the contract terms, the amount was amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the contract. The contract was terminated in September 2022, resulting in the Aquarium refunding the unamortized balance of \$1,840,809 to the concessionaire. As a result of the contract termination, during the year ended September 30, 2022, an additional \$665,000 settlement fee was incurred and paid and is included in other expenses in the accompanying consolidated statement of activities.

**Public support**: The Aquarium recognizes unconditional contributions when cash, securities, promises to give or other assets; or notification of a beneficial interest, is received. Unconditional contributions that are restricted by the donor are reported as an increase in net assets without donor restrictions if the restriction expires in the reporting period in which the contribution is recognized. All other donor restricted contributions are reported as an increase in net assets with donor restrictions, depending on the nature of restriction.

# Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

# Note 1. Nature of Activities and Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Conditional contributions are those contributions that certain donor-imposed rights of refund/return and barriers (performance obligations and/or controlling stipulations). Conditional contributions are recorded as revenue when conditions are satisfied. Conditional contributions received in advance of satisfying conditions are recorded as refundable advances. If a conditional contribution with donor restrictions becomes unconditional in the same period that the donor restrictions are satisfied, it is reported as an increase in net assets without donor restrictions.

A portion of the Aquarium's non-exchange revenue is derived from cost-reimbursable contracts and grants, which are conditional upon certain performance requirements and/or the incurrence of allowable qualifying expenditures (i.e., contain meaningful barriers and rights of return). Amounts received are recognized as revenue when the Aquarium has provided certain services and incurred expenditures in compliance with specific contract or grant provisions. Cash received in excess of revenue recognized is recorded as refundable advances. There were no refundable advances at September 30, 2022 and 2021.

**Donated materials and services:** Donated materials are reflected in the accompanying consolidated financial statements at their estimated fair market value at date of receipt. Donations of services are recorded as support at their estimated fair value if the services require specialized skills, are provided by individuals possessing those skills and would typically need to be purchased if not provided by donation. The Aquarium estimates the fair value on the basis of estimates of wholesale values that would be received from selling similar products, renting similar spaces, or acquiring similar services in the United States in line with FASB Topic 820, *Fair Value Measurement*. The Aquarium utilizes donated materials for their mission and does not monetize or sell the goods.

During the year ended September 30, 2022, contributed nonfinancial assets consist of a cold laser valued at \$22,000 used for veterinary care, and \$12,425 towards the purchase of 5 golf carts used in daily operations. Both items do not contain donor-imposed restrictions. There were no contributed nonfinancial assets received during the year ended September 30, 2021.

Community members volunteer in all areas of Aquarium operations. The Aquarium has approximately 700 active volunteers who contributed 37,373 and 20,799 hours of service for fiscal years 2022 and 2021, respectively. A dollar valuation of this effort is not reflected in the consolidated financial statements given the nature of the services contributed.

**Functional allocation of expenses:** The Aquarium tracks expenses by natural classification (salaries, utilities, etc.), department (animal care, health, and conservation, etc.), and program, if applicable, as part of normal operations. Directly identifiable expenses are charged to program and support services. Expenses related to more than one function are allocated to program and support services based on various factors determined by management, including number of staff in each department, time charged to the function, and use of capital assets. The Aquarium's program services are classified within the following: animal care, health and conservation (husbandry, conservation, veterinary care, dive operations, water quality and horticulture); education and learning (instructors, exhibit educators, community programs and reservations); life support and facilities (including graphics and exhibits); guest services (admissions, reception, Eco tour boat, parking, safety and security and environmental services); and marketing and sales, including public relations. The Aquarium's support services include the executive, finance and human resources functions (including volunteer services); and development and membership (responsible for all fundraising activities).

Advertising: Advertising costs are expensed as incurred.

# Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

# Note 1. Nature of Activities and Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

**Income taxes:** The Florida Aquarium, Inc. and Foundation are recognized by the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) as tax-exempt organizations under Section 501(c)(3) of the IRC. Income earned in furtherance of these entities' tax-exempt purposes is exempt from federal and state income taxes. As such, no provision for income tax expense has been made in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

The Aquarium has adopted the accounting standard on accounting for uncertainty in income taxes. Management assessed whether there were any uncertain tax positions which may give rise to income tax liabilities and determined that there were no such matters requiring recognition in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. Generally, the Aquarium is no longer subject to U.S. federal or state income tax examinations by tax authorities for years before September 30, 2019.

**Recently adopted accounting pronouncement:** In September 2020, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2020-07, *Not-for-Profit Entities (Topic 958): Presentation and Disclosure by Not-for-Profit Entities for Contributed Nonfinancial Assets.* This ASU is intended to improve transparency in the reporting of contributed nonfinancial assets, also known as gifts-in-kind, for not-for-profit entities. The ASU requires a not-for-profit organization to present contributed nonfinancial assets as a separate line item in the statements of activities apart from contributions of cash or other financial assets. The ASU also requires enhanced disclosure, including disaggregation of nonfinancial assets recognized by category and qualitative information about each category. The Aquarium adopted ASU 2020-07 during the year ended September 30, 2022, which resulted in segregation of contributed non-financial assets on the accompanying consolidated statement of activities and enhanced disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.

**Pending accounting pronouncements:** In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, *Leases (Topic 842)*, which sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases for both parties to a contract (i.e., lessees and lessors). The new standard requires lessees to apply a dual approach, classifying leases as either finance or operating leases based on the principle of whether or not the lease is effectively a financed purchase by the lessee. This classification will determine whether lease expense is recognized based on an effective interest method or on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease, respectively. A lessee is also required to record a right-of-use asset and a lease liability for all leases with a term of greater than 12 months regardless of their classification. Leases today. The new standard requires lessors to account for leases using an approach that is substantially equivalent to existing guidance for sales type leases, direct financing leases and operating leases. The standard is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2021, with early adoption permitted. The Aquarium plans to adopt the standard utilizing the modified retrospective method and believes the adoption of the standard will not have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

# Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

# Note 1. Nature of Activities and Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, *Financial Instruments—Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments.* ASU 2016-13 amends guidance on reporting credit losses for assets held at amortized cost basis and available for sale debt securities. For assets held at amortized cost basis, ASU 2016-13 eliminates the probable initial recognition threshold in current U.S. GAAP and, instead, requires an entity to reflect its current estimate of all expected credit losses. The allowance for credit losses is a valuation account that is deducted from the amortized cost basis of the financial assets to present the net amount expected to be collected. This ASU affects entities holding financial assets and net investment in leases that are not accounted for at fair value through changes in net assets. The amendments affect loans, debt securities, trade receivables, net investments in leases, off balance sheet credit exposures, reinsurance receivables and any other financial assets not excluded from the scope that have the contractual right to receive cash. The amendments in ASU 2016-13 are effective for the Aquarium's fiscal year 2024. The Aquarium is currently evaluating the impact this ASU will have on its consolidated financial statements.

**Reclassifications:** Certain amounts in the 2021 consolidated financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the 2022 presentation. Net assets and changes in net assets were unchanged due to these reclassifications.

**Subsequent events:** The Aquarium has evaluated subsequent events through January 31, 2023, the date on which the consolidated financial statements were available to be issued.

# Note 2. Fair Value Measurements

The following tables summarize major categories of the Aquarium's assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis at September 30, 2022 and 2021:

		Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using								
		Q	uoted Prices		Significant					
			in Active		Other		Significant			
			Markets for		Observable	U	Inobservable			
		lde	entical Assets		Inputs		Inputs			
	 2022		(Level 1)		(Level 2)		(Level 3)			
Assets:										
Recurring:										
Vanguard 500 Index mutual fund	\$ 1,002,794	\$	1,002,794	\$	-	\$	-			
Money market funds	5,010,723		5,010,723		-		-			
Cash equivalents held										
for investment	97,458		97,458		-		-			
Equities	 7,169		7,169		-		-			
Total investments	 6,118,144		6,118,144		-		-			
Beneficial interest in										
assets held by Community										
Foundation	 125,308		-		-		125,308			
Total assets	\$ 6,243,452	\$	6,118,144	\$	-	\$	125,308			

# **Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements**

# Note 2. Fair Value Measurements (Continued)

			Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using								
	2021				Quoted PricesSignificantin ActiveOtherMarkets forObservableIdentical AssetsInputs2021(Level 1)(Level 2)			Significant Inobservable Inputs (Level 3)			
Assets:											
Recurring:											
Vanguard 500 Index mutual fund	\$	1,186,870	\$	1,186,870	\$	-	\$	-			
Money market funds		5,000,021		5,000,021		-		-			
Cash equivalents held											
for investment		97,426		97,426		-		-			
Equities		12,857		12,857		-		-			
Total investments		6,297,174		6,297,174		-		-			
Beneficial interest in assets held by Community											
Foundation		146,513		-		-		146,513			
Total assets	\$	6,443,687	\$	6,297,174	\$		\$	146,513			

There were no liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis at September 30, 2022 and 2021. Level 1 investments are classified as such due to their closeness to cash or being valued based on quoted market prices.

The beneficial interest in assets held by Community Foundation is managed by an independent thirdparty trustee, and the Aquarium has no authority over investment decisions. Thus, the assets are classified as Level 3 within the fair value hierarchy level.

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 investments and no issues or purchases of Level 3 investments for the years ending September 30, 2022 and 2021.

# Note 3. Contributions Receivable

Contributions receivable at September 30, 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

2022		2021
\$ 220,000	\$	-
660,000		
 880,000		-
 (20,929)		-
\$ 859,071	\$	-
\$	\$ 220,000 660,000 880,000 (20,929)	\$ 220,000 \$ 660,000 880,000 (20,929)

# Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

# Note 4. Capital Assets

Capital assets at September 30, 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

	2022	2021	Estimated Useful Lives (in Years)
Furniture and equipment	\$ 2,874,386	\$ 2,922,811	3-5
Eco tour boat	1,245,796	1,227,629	3-5
Vehicles	429,377	376,908	3-5
Leasehold improvements	28,847,052	27,566,238	Shorter of useful life or lease term
Construction in progress	1,215,147	321,432	
	34,611,758	32,415,018	-
Less accumulated depreciation	(14,340,562)	(12,539,267)	
Capital assets, net	\$ 20,271,196	\$ 19,875,751	=

As per the Operating Agreement through September 30, 2039, the Aquarium is leasing the Facility from the City for \$10 per year for a period of 30 years unless sooner terminated, and provides further that the lease shall automatically be renewed for two successive 10-year terms unless any party gives the other party 180 days' notice of termination of the lease agreement prior to the expiration of any term.

# Note 5. Line of Credit

To ensure cash liquidity and financial stability during challenging economic conditions and in the midst of the global Coronavirus pandemic (COVID-19), the Aquarium secured a \$5 million revolving line of credit with a financial institution on August 26, 2020, for a three-year term. Variable interest at a rate of one-month LIBOR plus 1.75%, with a rate floor of 2.00% is payable monthly on any outstanding advance. All outstanding principal is payable at maturity. As of September 30, 2022 and 2021, no advances have been requested or disbursed.

# Note 6. Notes Payable

Notes payable outstanding at September 30, 2022 and 2021 totaled \$0 and \$1,983,795, respectively. There are no deferred financing costs as of September 30, 2022 and 2021.

On April 20, 2020, the Aquarium received loan proceeds of \$1,983,795 (loan #1) under the Paycheck Protection Program (PPP), established as part of the Federal Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Securities Act (CARES Act), administered by the U.S. Small Business Administration (SBA). This loan #1 was fully forgiven by the SBA on April 16, 2021. As such, the forgiveness of the outstanding debt balance of \$1,983,795 and accrued interest of \$19,403 (at 1%) has been recognized in the accompanying consolidated statement of activities as other income during the year ended September 30, 2021.

On January 20, 2021, the Aquarium applied for and received additional PPP loan proceeds of \$1,983,795 (loan #2). This loan #2 was also fully forgiven by the SBA on March 14, 2022. Once again, the forgiveness of the outstanding debt balance of \$1,983,795 and accrued interest of \$21,958 (at 1%) has been recognized in the accompanying consolidated statement of activities as other income during the year ended September 30, 2022.

The Aquarium elected to originally account for these loans as debt under ASU 470, Debt.

# Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

# Note 6. Notes Payable (Continued)

The SBA has the ability to review the original PPP loan applications and forgiveness applications for six years to assess compliance with the CARES Act. Management believes the Aquarium is in compliance with the CARES Act and does not anticipate repayment of any amounts forgiven.

# Note 7. Commitments and Contingencies

**Construction commitments:** Outstanding construction commitments totaled approximately \$4.6 million as of September 30, 2022, and consisted of various projects including the Coral Care Complex Center and other renovation initiatives.

**Grant funding:** The Aquarium routinely enters into grant agreements and contracts with governmental agencies that provide for reimbursement of the eligible direct and indirect costs of providing certain of the Aquarium's program services. The grants and contracts are subject to audit or review and retroactive adjustment based on a final determination by the grantor of eligible reimbursable expenditures. The effect of such adjustments, if any, on the Aquarium's consolidated financial statements cannot be determined at this time, and no provision has been made for any such adjustment in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

**Insurance claims:** The Aquarium may be involved in certain claims arising from the ordinary course of operations, and has purchased commercial insurance policies to cover these risks. In the opinion of the Aquarium and legal counsel, the range of potential liabilities will not materially affect the financial position of the Aquarium.

**License and lease agreements:** On August 3, 2016, the Aquarium entered into an operating license agreement to install and operate a 4D theatre attraction with a third party (4D Contractor). The agreement provides for the 4D Contractor to install equipment and provide licensed film property and services for the 4D attraction at a cost of \$350,000 annually. The Aquarium operates the 4D attraction on a daily basis. As a result of safety measures implemented to mitigate the effects of COVID-19, the 4D attraction did not operate from March 2020 – December 2020, and opened under capacity-restricted limits in January 2021. An amendment to the agreement was executed in January 2021 to eliminate the fees during the period of non-operation, and reduce the fees ratably due to the capacity restrictions. During the year ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, the Aquarium incurred \$250,000 and \$131,250, respectively. Future charges for the year ended September 30, 2023 (end of agreement) are \$250,000 under the terms of the amended agreement and are included in the future minimum annual payments below.

The Aquarium leases various office equipment and heavy machinery under operating lease agreements which expire through 2027. There is also a 40-year lease on small parcels of land within the footprint of the Facility, expiring in 2052. Total expense for these leases was \$51,519 and \$23,138 for the years ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

# Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

# Note 7. Commitments and Contingencies (Continued)

Approximate future minimum annual payments under the noncancellable leases are as follows:

Years ending September 30:	
2023	\$ 315,360
2024	65,360
2025	56,816
2026	52,544
2027	24,157
Thereafter	205,824
	\$ 720,061

# Note 8. Net Assets With Donor Restrictions

Net assets with donor restrictions were as follows at September 30, 2022 and 2021:

	 2022	2021
Donor restrictions for specified purposes or time:		
Education programs	\$ 90,126	\$ 85,195
Animal care and conservation projects	38,490	27,000
General operating support	859,071	-
Leasehold improvements	 105,000	-
Total donor restrictions for specified purposes or time	 1,092,687	112,195
Donor restrictions in perpetuity:		
General endowment	200,447	200,447
Beneficial interest in assets held by Community Foundation	125,308	146,513
Total donor restrictions in perpetuity	 325,755	346,960
Unappropriated endowment earnings	 906,974	1,096,706
Net assets with donor restrictions	\$ 2,325,416	\$ 1,555,861

Net assets of \$80,933 and \$59,145 were released from donor restrictions for the following purposes during the years ended September 30, 2022 and 2021:

	 2022 2021		2021
Education programs Animal care and conservation projects	\$ 53,933 27.000	\$	33,138 26,007
	\$ 80,933	\$	59,145

# Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

# Note 9. Endowments

FASB ASC Subtopic 958 205, Not for Profit Entities—Presentation of Financial Statements, provides guidance on the net asset classification of donor restricted endowment funds for a nonprofit organization that is subject to an enacted version of the Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act (UPMIFA). FASB ASC Subtopic 958 205 also requires enhanced disclosures about an organization's endowment funds, whether or not the organization is subject to an enacted version of UPMIFA. These disclosures shall enable users of financial statements to understand the net asset classification, net asset composition, changes in net asset composition, spending policy, and related investment policy of its endowment funds (both donor-restricted and board designated).

**Interpretation of relevant law:** As of July 1, 2012, the Aquarium follows Florida UPMIFA. The Aquarium's management, in working with the Aquarium's and Foundation's Board of Directors, has interpreted UPMIFA as requiring the preservation of the original endowment gift value on the gift date by the donor, absent explicit donor stipulations to the contrary. As a result of this interpretation, the Aquarium classifies as donor-restricted net assets in perpetuity (a) the original value of gifts donated to the endowment held in perpetuity, (b) the original value of subsequent gifts to the endowment held in perpetuity, and (c) although not applicable prior to July 1, 2012, any future accumulations to the endowment held in perpetuity that are made in accordance with the direction of the applicable donor gift instrument at the time the accumulation is added to the fund.

In accordance with Florida UPMIFA, the Aquarium considers the following factors in making a determination to appropriate or accumulate donor-restricted endowment funds:

- The duration and preservation of the fund
- The purposes of the Aquarium and the donor-restricted endowment fund
- General economic conditions
- The possible effect of inflation and deflation
- The expected total return from income and the appreciation of investments
- Other resources of the Aquarium
- The investment policies of the Aquarium

**Fund deficiencies:** Florida UPMIFA includes guidelines about what constitutes prudent spending. Aquarium donors may place purpose restrictions on the use of the investment income or net appreciation resulting from the donor-restricted endowment funds. If the fair value of assets associated with individual donor-restricted endowment funds falls below the level that Florida UPMIFA requires the Aquarium to retain as permanently restricted, these deficiencies are reported in net assets with donor restrictions. These deficiencies can result from unfavorable market conditions and fluctuations. There were no such deficiencies at September 30, 2022 or 2021.

**Return objective and risk parameters:** The investment objectives for the Aquarium are stated below in order of importance:

- a. Growth of capital—Emphasis on long-term growth of the investment assets. The returns should meet or exceed appropriate benchmark indices while incurring less risk than such benchmarks/indices.
- b. Preservation of purchasing power after spending—asset growth that exceeds spending plus inflation over a three-year period.
- c. The investment goal of the equity portfolio is that the annual return will match and/or exceed appropriate performance benchmark(s) by investment style to the asset managers selected.

# **Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements**

# Note 9. Endowments (Continued)

The Aquarium's Board of Directors recognizes that risk (i.e., the uncertainty of future events), volatility (i.e., the potential for variability of asset values), and the possibility of loss in purchasing power (due to inflation and U.S. dollar depreciation) are present to some degree in all types of investment vehicles. While high levels of risk are to be avoided, as evidenced by high volatility and low quality rated securities, the assumption of risk is warranted and encouraged in order to allow the asset manager the opportunity to achieve satisfactory long-term results consistent with the goals, objectives and character of the Aquarium. All assets selected for the portfolio must have a readily ascertainable market value and must be readily marketable.

**Strategies employed for achieving objectives:** To meet the needs of the Aquarium, the Aquarium's investment strategy emphasizes a total return strategy in which investment returns are achieved through both capital appreciation (realized and unrealized) and current yield (interest and dividends) by following the strategies outlined above.

**Spending policy and how the investment objective relates to spending policy:** The Aquarium's Board of Directors has adopted a spending policy that governs the annual distributions from the endowment funds that may be expended for current operations of the Aquarium. This policy authorizes the Aquarium to distribute from its endowment funds up to 5% of the value, excluding any illiquid securities or assets, at the beginning of the Aquarium's fiscal year in quarterly installments. No distributions from the endowment investments have ever been made. All income earned has been reinvested in endowment principal.

From time to time, certain donor-restricted endowment funds may have fair values less than the amount required to be maintained by donors or by law (underwater endowments). The Aquarium has interpreted Florida UPMIFA to permit spending from underwater endowments in accordance with prudent measures by law. The Aquarium's policy is to allow spending from underwater endowment.

Changes in endowment funds consist of the following for the years ended September 30, 2022 and 2021:

	2022			
	Without Donor	Without Donor With Donor		
	Restrictions	Restrictions	Total	
Total and summent funds at Sontomber 20, 2021	\$-	\$ 1.443.666	\$ 1.443.666	
Total endowment funds at September 30, 2021 Investment loss, net	φ -	\$ 1,443,666 (189,732)	\$    1,443,666 (189,732)	
Change in value of beneficial interests		(21,205)	(21,205)	
Total endowment funds at September 30, 2022	\$-	\$ 1,232,729	\$ 1,232,729	
		2021		
	Without Donor	With Donor		
	Without Donor Restrictions	With Donor Restrictions	Total	
			Total	
Total endowment funds at September 30, 2020			Total \$ 1,136,870	
Total endowment funds at September 30, 2020 Investment return, net	Restrictions	Restrictions		
• •	Restrictions	Restrictions \$ 1,136,870	\$ 1,136,870	
Investment return, net	Restrictions	Restrictions \$ 1,136,870 277,155	\$ 1,136,870 277,155	

# Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

# Note 10. Retirement Savings Plan

Effective January 1, 1994, a retirement savings plan was established pursuant to IRC Section 403(b). Substantially all employees are eligible to participate in the plan. Contributions are made at the discretion of the Board of Directors. Contributions totaling \$43,409 and \$32,435, included in the accompanying consolidated statements of activities, were made for the years ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

# Note 11. Related Party Transactions

Contributions and grants for the years ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, include the following:

		2022		2021
Board of directors and trustees	\$	79,045	\$	158,321
City of Tampa	\$	1,133,523	\$	437,400 595,721
	Ψ	1,212,000	Ψ	555,721

# Note 12. Availability and Liquidity

Financial assets available for general expenditures that are without donor or other restrictions limiting their use within one year of the consolidated statements of financial position date are comprised of the following at September 30, 2022 and 2021:

	2022	2021
Financial assets:		
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 16,619,274	\$ 15,414,200
Investments	6,118,144	6,297,174
Accounts receivable, net	689,028	265,864
Grants receivable	1,147,622	234,645
Contributions receivable, net	859,071	-
Beneficial interest in assets held by Community Foundation	125,308	146,513
	25,558,447	22,358,396
Less amounts unavailable for general expenditures within one		
year due to:		
Donor-imposed restrictions:		
Restricted for specific purpose or time	(1,092,687)	(112,195)
Less expected time restriction release	220,000	-
Donor-restricted endowments	(1,232,729)	(1,443,666)
Financial assets available to meet cash needs		
for general expenditures within one year	\$ 23,453,031	\$ 20,802,535

# Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

# Note 12. Availability and Liquidity (Continued)

When establishing the business plan and annual budget each year, Aquarium management and the Board of Directors evaluate financial assets available to meet general expenditures over the year with predictable sources of earned revenue. These revenue sources are estimated from expected attendance levels and ticket sales, annual membership sales, ancillary revenues from retail sales and food and beverage commissions, other added value experiences based on historical capture rates on attendance, and expected annual contributions through fundraising efforts. A balanced annual budget is required. Cash flow is then carefully managed in accordance with the annual budget approved by the Board of Directors, and financial assets are structured to be available as general expenditures, liabilities, and other obligations come due.

# Note 13. Conditional Promises to Give From Grantors

The Aquarium has conditional promises to give from grantors of approximately \$3.7 million and \$3.3 million as of September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Future payments or recognition of conditional promises to give are contingent upon the Aquarium carrying out certain stipulations of the grant or contract.



**RSM US LLP** 

# Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance With *Government Auditing Standards*

# **Independent Auditor's Report**

Board of Directors The Florida Aquarium, Inc.

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in *Government Auditing Standards* issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (*Government Auditing Standards*), the consolidated financial statements of The Florida Aquarium, Inc. and Affiliate (the Aquarium), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as of September 30, 2022, the related consolidated statements of activities, functional expenses and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements (collectively, the financial statements), and have issued our report thereon dated January 31, 2023.

#### **Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting**

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Aquarium's internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Aquarium's internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Aquarium's internal control.

A *deficiency* in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A *material weakness* is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A *significant deficiency* is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A *significant deficiency* is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.

THE POWER OF BEING UNDERSTOOD AUDIT | TAX | CONSULTING

#### **Report on Compliance and Other Matters**

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Aquarium's financial statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of their compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under *Government Auditing Standards*.

# **Purpose of This Report**

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Aquarium's internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with *Government Auditing Standards* in considering the Aquarium's internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

RSM US LLP

Tampa, Florida January 31, 2023



**RSM US LLP** 

# Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program and Report on Internal Control Over Compliance Required by the Uniform Guidance

# **Independent Auditor's Report**

Board of Directors The Florida Aquarium, Inc.

#### **Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program**

#### **Opinion on Each Major Federal Program**

We have audited The Florida Aquarium, Inc. and Affiliate (the Aquarium) compliance with the types of compliance requirements described in the *OMB Compliance Supplement* that could have a direct and material effect on each of the Aquarium's major federal programs for the year ended September 30, 2022. The Aquarium's major federal programs are identified in the summary of auditor's results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.

In our opinion, the Aquarium complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal programs for the year ended September 30, 2022.

#### Basis for Opinion on Each Major Federal Program

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAS); the standards applicable to financial audits contained in *Government Auditing Standards*, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (*Government Auditing Standards*); and the audit requirements of Title 2 *U.S. Code of Federal Regulations* Part 200, *Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards* (Uniform Guidance). Our responsibilities under those standards and the Uniform Guidance are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section of our report.

We are required to be independent of the Aquarium and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on compliance for each major federal program. Our audit does not provide a legal determination of the Aquarium's compliance with the compliance requirements referred to above.

#### **Responsibilities of Management for Compliance**

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the design, implementation and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the requirements of laws, statutes, regulations, rules and provisions of contracts or grant agreements applicable to the Aquarium's federal programs.

THE POWER OF BEING UNDERSTOOD AUDIT | TAX | CONSULTING

# Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an opinion on the Aquarium's compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS, *Government Auditing Standards* and the Uniform Guidance will always detect material noncompliance when it exists. The risk of not detecting material noncompliance resulting from fraud is higher than for that resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control. Noncompliance with the compliance requirements referred to above is considered material, if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, it would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user of the report on compliance about the Aquarium's compliance with the requirements of each major federal program as a whole.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, *Government Auditing Standards* and the Uniform Guidance, we:

- Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
- Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and design
  and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a
  test basis, evidence regarding the Aquarium's compliance with the compliance requirements referred
  to above and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.
- Obtain an understanding of the Aquarium's internal control over compliance relevant to the audit in
  order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and report on
  internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of
  expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Aquarium's internal control over compliance.
  Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in internal control over compliance that we identified during the audit.

# **Report on Internal Control Over Compliance**

A *deficiency in internal control over compliance* exists when the design or operation of a control over compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. A *material weakness in internal control over compliance* is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A *significant deficiency in internal control over compliance* is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, yor a combination of deficiencies, in a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A *significant deficiency in internal control over compliance* is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance. Given these limitations, during our audit, we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses, as defined above. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses, as defined above. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses, as defined above. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses, as defined above. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance may exist that were not identified.

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.

RSM US LLP

Tampa, Florida January 31, 2023

# Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards

Year Ended September 30, 2022

	Assistance Listing		Provided to	Total Federal
Federal Grantor/Pass Through Grantor/Program Title	Number	Contract/Grant Number	Subrecipients	Expenditures
Research and Development Cluster:				
U.S. Department of Defense				
Passed Through the University of Miami				
Research and Technology Development	12.910	HR00112220041	\$ -	\$ 122,397
Total U.S. Department of Defense			-	122,397
U.S. Department of Commerce				
National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration				
Passed Through Florida Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission (FWC)				
Bipartisan Budget Act of 2018	11.022	NA19NMF0220003	-	135,276
Passed Through the University of Miami				
Office for Coastal Management	11.473	NA19NOS4730148	-	179,206
Total U.S. Department of Commerce			-	314,482
Total Research and Development Cluster			-	436,879
U.S. Department of Commerce				
National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration				
Direct:				
NOAA Mission-Related Education Awards	11.008	NA18NMF0080170	-	20,601
Habitat Conservation	11.463	NA20NMF4630304	101,483	249,106
Passed Through Florida Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission (FWC)				
Bipartisan Budget Act of 2018	11.022	NA19NMF0220003	-	296,293
Passed Through National Marine Sanctuary Foundation				
Habitat Conservation	11.463	NA20NMF4630328	-	48,143
Passed Through National Fish and Wildlife Foundation (NFWF)				
Coral Reef Conservation Program	11.482	NA18NOS4820181	43,394	110,836
Total U.S. Department of Commerce			144,877	724,979
Total Expenditures of Federal Awards			\$ 144,877	\$ 1,161,858

See notes to schedule of expenditures of federal awards

# Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards Year Ended September 30, 2022

# Note 1. Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated schedule of expenditures of federal awards (the Schedule) includes the federal award activity of The Florida Aquarium, Inc., under programs of the federal government for the year ended September 30, 2022. The information in this Schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements of Title 2 *U.S. Code of Federal Regulations* Part 200, *Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards* (Uniform Guidance). Because the Schedule presents only a selected portion of the operations of The Florida Aquarium, Inc., it is not intended to and does not present the financial position, changes in net assets or cash flows of The Florida Aquarium, Inc.

# Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Such expenditures are recognized following the cost principles contained in the Uniform Guidance, wherein certain types of expenditures are not allowable or are limited as to reimbursement.

# Note 3. Indirect Cost Rate

The Florida Aquarium, Inc. elects the de minimus rate of 10% for Federal awards for determining indirect cost amounts.

# Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs Year Ended September 30, 2022

# Section I – Summary of Auditor's Results

# **Financial Statements**

Type of auditor's report issued on whether the financial statements audited were prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP:	U	nmodified	
<ul><li>Internal control over financial reporting:</li><li>Material weakness(es) identified?</li><li>Significant deficiency(ies) identified?</li></ul>	Yes Yes	X X	No None Reported
Noncompliance material to the financial statements noted?	Yes	X	No
Federal Awards			
<ul><li>Internal control over major programs:</li><li>Material weakness(es) identified?</li><li>Significant deficiency(ies) identified?</li></ul>	Yes Yes	X X	No None Reported
Type of auditor's report issued on compliance for major programs:	Unmodified		
Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be reported in accordance with Section 2 CFR 200.516(a)?	Yes	X	No
Identification of major federal programs:			
Assistance Listing Number(s):	Name of Fede	ral Progra	m or Cluster:
11.022 11.463	Bipartisan Budget Act Habitat Conservation	t of 2018	
Dollar threshold used to distinguish between type A and type B programs:	\$	750,000	
Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee?	Yes	X	No
Section II – Financial Statement Findings			
None reported.			
Section III – Findings and Questioned Costs for Federal	Awards		

None reported.